ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Spartanburg County

Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

**RECEIVED**

MAR 02 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

SANDY LYNN WESTMORELAND,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-002636

\_\_\_\_\_  
FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

ROBERT M. DUDEK  
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred by allowing the coroner, who admitted he had never testified about the manner of death in a prior case, to opine, where he was not qualified as an expert, that the cause of the decedent's death was a homicide since this was impermissible opinion by a lay witness that was extraordinarily prejudicial where appellant's defense was accident, and the jury was charged on the law of accident?

2.

Whether the court erred by instructing the jury that voluntary intoxication was not a defense where the evidence in this case was undisputed that appellant was heavily medicated in the hospital emergency room for medical purposes, and was nonetheless allowed to leave to drive home, since this instruction on voluntary intoxication should not have been charged given the facts of this case, and it was consequently was very confusing and misleading?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Spartanburg County Grand Jury for the offenses of murder, and failure to stop and render aid. R. 388 – 391. His case was called to trial on December 1, 2014, before the Honorable Roger L. Couch, and a jury. Abel Gray and Megan Moricle were the assistant solicitors. Matthew Shealy represented appellant. R. 1.

At the conclusion of the trial on December 4, 2014, the jury found appellant guilty on both counts. R. 374, ll. 16-22. Judge Couch sentenced appellant to thirty years for murder, and he imposed a twenty-five year sentence for failure to stop and render aid. R. 380, ll. 11-18.

This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### **Introduction**

This is a highly unusual case where appellant went to the emergency room for treatment. He was heavily medicated, but allowed to drive home anyway after an altercation with his gay friend in one of the treatment rooms at the emergency room. The Emergency Room supervisor even opined that if appellant was *legally intoxicated* with a .10 blood-alcohol content that did not necessarily mean that he, the physician, would consider him too impaired to drive. The same reasoning apparently applied to medications, which on their face, would appear mind altering. The state alleged that appellant intentionally ran over his friend in the parking lot of the Mary Black Hospital after his release. Appellant testified that this was a tragic accident wherein he pulled over to give his friend a ride, and due to his altered state he unintentionally hit his friend with his car. The trial judge correctly determined there was evidence of accident, and he charged the jury verdict options of accident, and involuntary manslaughter, in addition to murder.

### **Relevant facts**

Clay Lyles was taking a shortcut through the Mary Black Hospital parking lot on May 15, 2012, on his way to the store to buy cigarettes when he saw a man "laying flat on his back." Lyles went inside the hospital and informed them that he did not know if "he's dead or alive." He showed security personnel where to find the body. "So she got somebody to walk down there, and they walked down there and they find out he was dead." R. 38, ll. 1-20.

Travis Haney was one the security guards working in the emergency room on the night of March 14, 2012. He remembered passing room five in the emergency room. The decedent, Michael Daniels, came outside the room with "a bloody nose." He was upset and crying. Haney

said a very short investigation led security to believe appellant had allegedly punched the decedent. Appellant later testified his choices then became to “go home” or “go to jail.” R. 40, l. 11 – 43, l. 5.

When the emergency room doctors allowed appellant to leave, Haney walked appellant to his car and watched him drive away. R. 43, l. 4 – 44, l. 7. Haney remembered that appellant was calm at the time when he got to his car. He watched appellant as appellant observed that the decedent had taken his own belongings out of appellant’s car in the parking lot after appellant struck him, and before appellant went to leave. “We told him goodnight and he said goodnight. He got in his car and left.” Haney testified that appellant was not slurring his speech, and Haney said he did not think appellant was impaired at the time. R. 47, l. 11 – 48, l. 8.

Spartanburg County sheriff’s Deputy Jeff Valentine also accompanied appellant to his car when he was discharged from the emergency room. Valentine did not agree with Haney’s assessment of appellant’s demeanor. Valentine said appellant was upset that the decedent had gone into appellant’s vehicle and taken his personal belongings out. Valentine maintained appellant wanted to “file a report for him for carbreaking.” R. 52, l. 20 – 54, l. 3.

Michael Hart, a paramedic with Spartanburg EMS, saw the decedent’s body lying in the grass outside of the hospital. Hart estimated that the vehicle that hit him went through the shrubbery and reentered the road about thirty to forty feet from the decedent. R. 62, l. 10 – 63, l. 10. Deputy Jack Campbell remembered arriving at the Mary Black Hospital at about 9:40 that morning. He viewed the decedent lying in the grass, and seeing “a number of bits and pieces of what looked to be automobile parts or components thereof.” R. 64, l. 10 – 66, l. 23.

The police began looking for “a vehicle similar to what was noted to be a purple Ford Explorer.” R. 77, l. 9 – 79, l. 11. Such a vehicle was quickly matched with appellant’s residence in Woodruff, South Carolina. The police saw appellant come out of his Woodruff house, and he

confirmed his identity to them. Appellant agreed to go to the police station with the deputies. R. 77, l. 23 – 81, l. 3.<sup>1</sup>

Deputy Bryant testified that appellant first told him that he had hit a deer “around the Dillon Drive area.” R. 109, ll. 13-16. Appellant then told him the statement about the deer was not true, he told Bryant as he was leaving the hospital, that “he was trying to pull over to tell Mike [the decedent] to get in the car, and that’s when he said he had accidentally hit Mike with the car. He had got out to see if Mike was okay, but he wasn’t breathing.”<sup>2</sup> R. 112, ll. 3-20.

Michael Duncan was with the Highway Patrol MAIT team. The MAIT team determined that this was a hit and run, and that it possibly could also have been intentional. R. 121, l. 20 – 124, l. 8. Duncan testified that the automobile showed the tire tracks went off the road into the bushes and it continued through the bushes back onto the road without stopping. R. 123, l. 10 – 125, l. 10. Duncan estimated the speed of the vehicle was between 29 and 37 miles per hour. R. 125, ll. 11-16.

### **Opinion testimony**

The state called Spartanburg County coroner Rusty Clevenger as a witness. He had been the coroner for about three years at the time of this incident. R. 141, ll. 4-8. Clevenger admitted he had never testified before as to the manner of death. R. 142, ll. 10-12.

The solicitor, nonetheless, attempted to offer the coroner “as an expert in determining the manner of death.” Defense counsel Shealy objected, arguing that the coroner was merely an elected

---

<sup>1</sup> Dr. David Wren, the pathologist, testified that when the decedent was struck by an automobile, it dislocated his head from his neck, apparently, killing him instantly. R. 99, ll. 1-21; R. 103, ll. 12-17.

<sup>2</sup> In moving for a directed verdict motion on the failure to render aid charge defense counsel argued the statute only applied where there was a living human being capable of being aided. The judge ruled that even if it was obvious the decedent was dead it still

position, and that he was not qualified to testify as to the manner of death. R. 142, l. 23 – 143, l. 7. The judge stated *unless* the coroner was qualified as an expert “he will not be allowed to offer opinions.” The solicitor *then withdrew* his request to qualify Clevenger as an expert. R. 142, l. 23 – 143, l. 23.

Clevenger then testified that the causes of death were either natural, accident, homicide, suicide, or undetermined. R. 143, l. 24 – 144, l. 5. Clevenger admitted it could not always be determined whether a person was killed intentionally. R. 144, ll. 18-23. When Clevenger testified that he ruled the cause of death was a homicide, defense counsel immediately objected that the coroner was giving impermissible opinion testimony. The judge overruled the objection. R. 144, l. 21 – 145, l. 12.

#### **Other evidence**

Doctor Mark Rody was the medical director at the emergency room at Mary Black Hospital on March 14, 2012. He remembered treating appellant that evening. R. 156, l. 22 – 157, l. 23. Appellant was initially treated by Doctor Carter in the emergency room. Appellant was complaining of very extreme abdominal pain, and blood in his urine. R. 157, l. 24 – 158, l. 10. Dr. Rody noted that appellant had had four hernias and had a history of kidney stones. R. 158, ll. 11-12. Appellant was given pain medication -- narcotics -- by Dr. Carter. R. 158, l. 20 – 162, l. 9. The solicitor asked Dr. Rody about appellant’s “tolerance” for these strong medications. Dr. Rody answered that appellant took many powerful medications, including Lortab 10s, three times a day. R. 162, l. 12 – 163, l. 3. Dr. Rody maintained appellant would have built up a tolerance to this pain medication that a “normal” person would not have had. R. 163, ll. 15-21.

---

was a jury question on criminal liability under the statute, S.C. Code §56-5-1230. R. 211, l. 12 – 218, l. 24.

Dr. Rody claimed appellant would not have been discharged if he was intoxicated on pain medication that had been given him in the emergency room. Dr. Rody maintained appellant was fit to be discharged despite the strong medication he was given. R. 164, l. 1 – 165, l. 19.

On cross-examination, defense counsel Shealy asked about medications appellant was prescribed and had taken that night. Dr. Rody acknowledged Lortab was a sedating medication and Dr. Rody added: “If my wife took one Valium 10, she would sleep for three days . . . if you or I took a Valium 10, we would probably take us a nice, long nap.” R. 167, l. 8 – 168, l. 18.

On redirect examination, Dr. Rody said he felt comfortable in discharging appellant that evening. R. 173, l. 8 – 174, l. 6. On re-cross examination, defense counsel asked Dr. Rody if he would let someone leave the emergency room and drive home with an alcohol level of .10. Dr. Rody answered that it would depend on the situation. “.1 is the next guy’s zero versus, you know, .1 may [mean] the next person [was] intoxicated.” When pressed about allowing a person with a .10 to drive, Dr. Rody only responded that appellant allegedly “looked good, he was interacting with me well, had a normal mental status . . . just walking and talking fine.” Dr. Rody said this was true “despite it being illegal for him to drive.” R. 174, l. 22 – 176, l. 2.

As will be seen infra, defense counsel Shealy objected to the judge charging the jury that voluntary intoxication was not a defense, since these medications had been prescribed in the emergency room. The trial judge maintained that appellant or any other person could have refused treatment for pain with narcotics or other pain killers.

Appellant testified in his own defense that he was fifty-two years old. The decedent had been his best friend and in a relationship for the past eighteen years. R. 220, l. 5 – 221, l. 22. Appellant was disabled because of all his health problems including “back surgery, neck surgery,

emphysema, COPD, and diabetes.” R. 223, ll. 17-23. Appellant took “a fair number of medications” including Lortab and Valium. R. 223, l. 24 – 224, l. 3.

Appellant remembered that fatal day. The decedent was upset that day because he had spent the last twenty dollars appellant gave him on what turned out to be fake crack cocaine, “a piece of soap.” The decedent took appellant to the emergency room. Appellant was given an MRI there. He gave the decedent his glasses, his false teeth, his wallet and his keys. R. 226, ll. 13-21. Appellant did not receive his glasses back prior to driving. R. 227, l. 24 – 229, l. 11.

Appellant testified that after his altercation with the decedent in the emergency room he was walked to his car by security. He was told that he could either leave or go to jail. Appellant testified he had degenerative eye disease, and he “got in the car and left as they wanted me to do.” R. 235, ll. 1-19.

As appellant was driving his five-speed Explorer, he saw the decedent on the side of the road, on the side of his “bad eye.” Appellant “jerked the car to pull over to pick him up. I don’t know . . . I can’t say what happened other than me jerking the car. I don’t know if I mashed the clutch instead of the brakes. I don’t know.” Appellant felt a bump, and he realized he had hit the decedent. “I said, my God, you know, what happened. I turned around and came back. He was dead . . . I just flipped out. I ain’t never been to jail in my life. I was high. I didn’t know what to do. I just flipped out. I just wanted to go home.” Appellant left the scene, and drove home. R. 235, l. 18 – 239, l. 20.

Appellant was stopped on the way home by the police because he had a light out. He told the officer that he had hit a deer, and he was allowed to go home. “I just kept telling myself to go home and go to bed, this is a terrible nightmare, you’ll wake up and everything will be alright.” R. 239, l. 21 – 240, l. 7.

Appellant told the jury he initially lied because he had never been to jail and he was scared. R. 242, ll. 15-20. Appellant testified that hitting the decedent was an accident, and that he had absolutely no reason to intentionally hit or kill the decedent. R. 244, l. 22 – 245, l. 7.

On cross-examination, the solicitor asked appellant why he drove without his glasses if his eyes were so bad. Appellant “because the officer walked me to the car and said either leave or go to jail.” R. 252, ll. 2-10.

### **Charge conference**

The solicitor asked for a jury instruction that voluntary intoxication was not a defense “in this situation.” The judge asked for the defense’s position on the voluntary intoxication charge. Defense counsel argued that voluntary intoxication as a jury charge did not apply in this case since appellant was injected with medication in the emergency room. Defense counsel maintained that the jury could find that the incident was simply an accident or the result of criminal negligence -- involuntary manslaughter. R. 302, l. 10 – 303, l. 5.

The judge asked if the jury instruction should be on voluntary intoxication or involuntary intoxication. The solicitor maintained that both legal concepts should be charged. Defense counsel continued to object to a jury instruction on voluntary intoxication since it was not applicable. R. 303, ll. 3-25.

While noting the lack of precedent on this unusual issue, the judge observed that appellant was given pain medications at the hospital and appellant said he was high from that medication. The judge nonetheless maintained appellant could have refused the medications. The judge added that he did not understand how accepting medication at a hospital “takes it out of the realm of voluntary intoxication.” R. 304, l. 21 – 305, l. 6. The judge reasoned that appellant could have refused the medications, and he also could have refused to drive. R. 305, ll. 14-19.

The judge noted that in his charge book on voluntary intoxication, it included voluntary intoxication from drugs. The judge told the attorneys that during the Civil War soldiers had their arms and legs amputated, and they were only given a bullet to bite on to handle the pain. “This is just an interesting question, I have not had come up before. Apparently, there is not too many cases on it where we can find anything.” The judge said in his opinion the evidence revealed voluntary intoxication. R. 307, l. 20 – 308, l. 24. Defense counsel disagreed. “It is simply not voluntary intoxication.” R. 308, l. 11 – 309, l. 24.

The solicitor, respectfully not adding anything to the legal discussion, maintained that appellant was not entitled to a jury instruction on accident or involuntary manslaughter. The solicitor continued to repeat his view of the evidence that appellant intentionally hit the decedent. R. 310, l. 2 – 311, l. 24. The judge ultimately agreed there was evidence of accident and involuntary manslaughter so he would charge them. The judge also agreed that a jury instruction that malice could be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon -- an automobile – would be improper. R. 311, l. 20 – 314, l. 22.

The judge charged the jury murder, involuntary manslaughter and accident. R. 353, l. 5 – 356, l. 16. The judge charged the jury on intoxication as follows:

*First of all, under the law, insanity caused by drugs or alcohol may be a defense if the insanity is permanent and destroys the defendant's ability to know right from wrong if the, if the intoxication was voluntary. However, when voluntary intoxication has not proved—produced permanent insanity, it is not a defense to a crime. A person who voluntarily becomes intoxicated is just as responsible for the acts committed while intoxicated as the person who is not intoxicated.*

Now, involuntary intoxication, however, is the opposite of that. If someone becomes involuntarily intoxicated, then it can be a defense to the charges in a crime of specific intent. And, so, if, for example, someone is intoxicated as a result of a trick, artifice, or force, or had no choice in the intoxication, then that, that could provide a defense to a crime requiring specific intent.

Also, you could find, as a jury, that intoxication was not a factor in this case, that the defendant was not intoxicated at the time of the offense, and if it's not a factor in this case at all, then it would not be a factor for you to consider at all. *In other words, the question for you, the jury, to determine is whether or not the defendant was intoxicated at the time of the event, whether or not that intoxication was either voluntary or involuntary.*

*If the intoxication was voluntary, that means that the—it would not be a defense to the crime unless it produced permanent insanity.* If the intoxication was involuntary—if the intoxication was involuntary, then it would be a defense to a crime requiring specific intent.

R. 356, l. 17 – 357, l. 24. (emphasis added).

## ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred by allowing the coroner, who admitted he had never testified about the manner of death in a prior case, to opine, where he was not qualified as an expert, that the cause of the decedent's death was a homicide, since this was impermissible opinion by a lay witness that was extraordinarily prejudicial where appellant's defense was accident, and the jury was charged on the law of accident

The coroner was not qualified as an expert in this case. He had never testified as to the manner of death in any prior court case. Defense counsel objected to the coroner being qualified as an expert, and the judge correctly ruled that if the coroner was not an expert, he could not give an opinion. The solicitor then withdrew his motion to qualify the coroner as an expert.

Strangely, when the coroner opined that the decedent died as a result of a "homicide," the judge overruled the defense's objection to this improper opinion. This was totally inconsistent with the judge's prior correct ruling that if the coroner was not an expert -- which he was not -- that he could not give an opinion on the manner of death.

Rule 702, SCRE, provides "if scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact, to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise." See, also, Rule 703 and 704, SCRE. In this case, the coroner was not an expert and his opinion that the decedent died as a result of a homicide embraced the ultimate issue to be decided by the jury where the coroner was not an expert. A homicide is not an accident, and

accident was appellant's defense. The prejudice from this inadmissible opinion was therefore manifest.

Our Supreme Court considered a related matter in State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 721 S.E.2d 413 (2011). In Commander, the Supreme Court considered the expert opinion of the pathologist that the autopsy and background information provided to him led him to conclude the victim's death was "a homicide." Even though *the expert testimony* rendering an opinion in that case was not error, our Supreme Court noted that it was problematic that a forensic pathologist could render an opinion outside of his medical expertise that would invade the province of the jury. The Supreme Court held that expert testimony that addressed the issue of guilt or innocence or the state of mind of the accused was inadmissible. See, State v. Commander, 396 S.C. at 268, 721 S.E.2d at 420-421 (2011).

The jury was given the verdict option of not guilty by reason of accident. In Commander, as here, homicide implying criminal culpability had the very real possibility of confusing the jury intending to cause it to convict based upon the opinion. The pathologist in Commander was an expert. Here, the coroner was not an expert.

The trial judge here correctly observed that if the coroner was not qualified as an expert, he would not give an opinion on the manner of death. Yet, when the coroner opined that the decedent died as a result of a homicide, the judge overruled the objection. The inadmissible opinion testimony in this case was very prejudicial because a normal lay person on the jury would view this opinion as ruling out that the decedent died as a result of an accident. This improper opinion testimony by the unqualified coroner entitles appellant to a new trial.

2.

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