ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Spartanburg County
Honorable Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

MAR 03 2016

SC Court of Appeals
Respondent,

THE STATE,

v.

SANDY LYNN WESTMORELAND,

Appellant

Appellate Case No. 2014-002636.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

CAROLINE M. SCRANTOM
Assistant Attorney General

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina, 29211
(803) 734-6305

BARRY J. BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit
180 Magnolia St.
Spartanburg, SC 29306

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Given the totality of the evidence before it, the province of the jury was not invaded; it was free to accept or reject the State's case theory. The verdict demonstrates that the State's version of events indubitably convinced the jury of Appellant's guilt on the offense of murder. Beyond a reasonable doubt, the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict in this case.

II. The trial court committed no error in instructing the factfinder that there was a question before them as to whether Appellant was intoxicated at the time of the hit and run, and further instructing the jury of the effect of finding that Appellant was voluntarily intoxicated.

How the Issue Arose

During the charge conference, the parties and the court considered jury instructions on both voluntary and involuntary intoxication. (R. p. 303, lines 6-9). The trial court requested argument regarding Appellant's position on voluntary intoxication. Appellant's counsel opposed, positing that "to call this voluntary intoxication is a little disingenuous since [Appellant] was injected – I mean he was taking prescribed meds and he was also injected at the hospital." (R. p. 302, line 3 – Tr. p. 303, line 25). Before taking the requested instructions under advisement, the trial court reasoned:

The taking of pain medications, you have the right to refuse them. In other words, you – a person is not required to take pain medications. . . . I'm trying to find anything that, that would indicate though that a – because it's a prescription that you're claiming to be an intoxicant, if that takes it out of the realm of voluntary intoxication. . . . [A]gain, the medications that he took he could [have] refused.

...

[M]ost pain medications are medications that people can either take or not take. It's not something you have to take to survive. You know, in the Civil War they amputated arms and legs and gave them a bullet to bite on. So, pain medication is something that people take.

...

I can see somebody, for example, take – having a prescription drug and then abusing it, taking twice the dosage, and that certainly would be a voluntary intoxication. . . . I'm just saying that the fact that it's a prescription drug, in and of itself, would not take it out of the voluntariness is what I'm trying to say.

(R. p. 304, line 21 – p. 308, line 25). Appellant's counsel next argued the rule of lenity as

its only authority against charging voluntary intoxication. (R. p. 309, lines 11-25).

The trial court held its ruling in abeyance until after closing argument, giving the parties additional time to research the propriety of the contested instruction. (R. p. 333, lines 10-22). The trial court ultimately instructed the jury as follows:

Now, the question of intoxication has come into this case, and I want to go over with you what, what that might mean in relationship to the defenses.

First of all, under the law, insanity caused by drugs or alcohol may be a defense if the insanity is permanent and destroys the defendant's ability to know right from wrong if the, if the intoxication was voluntary. However, when voluntary intoxication has not proved—produced permanent insanity, it is not a defense to a crime. A person who voluntarily becomes intoxicated is just as responsible for the acts committed while intoxicated as the person who is not intoxicated.

Now, involuntary intoxication, however, is the opposite of that. If someone becomes involuntarily intoxicated, then it can be a defense to the charges in a crime of specific intent. And, so, if, for example, someone is intoxicated as a result of a trick, artifice, or force, or had no choice in the intoxication, then that, that could provide a defense to a crime requiring specific intent.

Also, you could find, as a jury, that intoxication was not a factor in this case, that the defendant was not intoxicated at the time of the offense, and if it's not a factor in this case at all, then it would not be a factor for you to consider at all. *In other words, the question for you, the jury, to determine is whether or not the defendant was intoxicated at the time of the event, whether or not that intoxication was either voluntary or involuntary.*

If the intoxication was voluntary, that means that the—it would not be a defense to the crime unless it produced permanent insanity. If the intoxication was involuntary—if the intoxication was involuntary, then it would be a defense to a crime requiring specific intent.

(R. p. 356, line 17 – p. 357, line 24 (emphasis added)).

Standard of Review

Turning to the merits of Appellant's second issue, "[a] jury charge is correct if, when read as a whole, the charge adequately covers the law. A jury charge that is

substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal.” *State v. Logan*, 405 S.C. 83, 90-91, 747 S.E.2d 444, 448 (2013). “[T]his Court considers the trial court’s jury charge as a whole and in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial.” *Id.*

A. Appellant conceded his objection upon the trial court’s ruling on this issue so that the voluntary intoxication charge remains unpreserved for appellate review.

“[A]n objection should be sufficiently specific to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so it can be reasonably understood by the trial judge.” *State v. Prioleau*, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001). “Furthermore, ‘[n]o issue is preserved for appellate review if the objecting party accepts the judge’s ruling and does not contemporaneously make an additional objection.’” *State v. McCord*, 349 S.C. 477, 486, 562 S.E.2d 689, 694 (Ct. App. 2002) (quoting *State v. George*, 323 S.C. 496, 508, 476 S.E.2d 903, 910-11 (1996)). In such a circumstance, there can be no basis for appellate review, for “[a] party cannot complain of an error which his own conduct has induced.” *State v. Carlson*, 363 S.C. 586, 595, 611 S.E.2d 283, 287 (Ct. App. 2005). When “a party fails to properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal.” *State v. Johnson*, 324 S.C. 38, 41, 476 S.E.2d 681, 682 (1996).

The following exchange between Appellant’s counsel and the trial court encompasses the ruling on the contested voluntary intoxication instruction:

THE COURT: Well, I mentioned to all of you the possibility of me charging the jury that they will have to make a finding of fact –

COUNSEL: And that will be fine.

THE COURT: – as to whether or not this was a voluntary or involuntary intoxication, if any at all. . . . If they find that it was voluntarily done, then it’s not a defense. If they find that

it was involuntarily done, then it would serve as a mitigating factor or a defense to the – to the statute requiring [specific] intent.

COUNSEL: Yes, sir, and that would be – we would have no real objection to that. No real objection to that.

COURT: So, you would agree to me charging in that fashion?

COUNSEL: I would.

(R. p. 337, line 14 – p. 338, line 14).

Appellant’s counsel consented to the trial court’s crafted instruction. Counsel also presented no exception to the instruction following its issuance to the jury. (R. p. 359, lines 18-21). By accepting the trial court’s ruling that intoxication was a question for the factfinder, Appellant’s objection to the voluntary intoxication instruction was waived. Consequently, this issue remains unpreserved for appellate review. *State v. McCord, supra*.

B. Evidence at trial presented a question as to whether Appellant was intoxicated at the time of the crime, requiring the voluntary intoxication instruction.

“The law to be charged is determined from the evidence presented at trial.” *State v. Todd*, 290 S.C. 212, 214, 349 S.E.2d 339, 341 (1986). In crafting a jury instruction, “judges shall not charge juries in respect to matters of fact, but shall declare the law.” S.C. Const. art. V, § 21. In doing so, “the trial judge must charge the correct and current law of the state.” *State v. Shuler*, 344 S.C. 604, 632, 545 S.E.2d 805, 819 (2001). “If there is any evidence to support a charge, the trial judge should grant the request.” *Id.*

In the case of a voluntary intoxication instruction, where there exists “some evidence showing the appellant had been drinking prior” to the crime, the trial court’s

decision to charge the jury on the law of voluntary intoxication is not erroneous. *State v. Todd, supra*. “[V]oluntary intoxication is not an excuse for, or a defense to a crime. This rule also extends to the voluntary ingestion of drugs.” *State v. Crocker*, 272 S.C. 344, 346, 251 S.E.2d 764, 766 (1979); *State v. Bellue*, 260 S.C. 39, 43, 194 S.E.2d 193, 195 (1973) (“Voluntary intoxication or drug use does not absolve a defendant of criminal responsibility.”). “It has been recognized, however, that insanity caused by the use of drugs or intoxication may be a defense where the insanity is permanent and destroys the defendant’s ability to know right from wrong.” *State v. Hartfield*, 300 S.C. 469, 473, 388 S.E.2d 802, 804 (1990).

Appellant’s taking a large number of prescription pain medications constitutes the voluntary ingestion of drugs. *State v. Crocker, supra; State v. Bellue, supra*. As such, a voluntary intoxication instruction was appropriate. Insofar as Appellant received intravenous pain medication at the hospital hours prior to the hit and run, that too constitutes evidence of voluntary intoxication. *See id.* Appellant had the ability to refuse additional pain treatment. He went to the hospital on his own volition and was not forced or tricked into having the medication administered. *See State v. Samuels*, 905 S.W.2d 536, 539 (Mo. Ct. App. 1995) (involuntary intoxication instruction not appropriate where, prior to the crime’s commission, the defendant consented to a medical procedure requiring his being drugged). By all indications, Appellant requested the second dose of Dilaudid at the hospital. (R. p. 275, lines 10-20). Nothing in the record indicates Appellant’s treating physician administered any drugs without permission, or to incapacitate Appellant for the purposes of major emergency treatment.

With evidence to support voluntary intoxication instruction, the decision to so

charge the jury does not prove erroneous.

C. The instruction did not serve to confuse the jury so as to constitute reversible error.

The crafted instruction also did not act to confuse the jury. “It is not error to read to the jury a statute defining a crime with which the defendant is not charged, if the purpose is to enlighten the jury regarding the issues before it; however, a non-charged offense should not be charged to the jury if it has the effect of confusing the issues the jury must determine.” *State v. Peer*, 320 S.C. 546, 553-54, 466 S.E.2d 375, 380 (Ct. App. 1996). And while a confusing or misleading jury instruction may be a basis for error, “[t]he test is what a reasonable juror would understand the charge to mean.” *State v. Rothell*, 301 S.C. 168, 170, 391 S.E.2d 228, 229 (1990).

The jury had to be instructed that if they found Appellant intoxicated, they would then be left to determine whether the intoxication was voluntary, and therefore not a defense absent evidence of permanent insanity. *See State v. Hartfield, supra*. If “the question of abuse of medications turn[s] on the resolution of disputed facts and inferences, the question [is] one within the province of the jury, not the trial court, to resolve.” *State v. McKeon*, 201 Ariz. 571, 575, 38 P.3d 1236, 1240 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2002) (state law recognized temporary intoxication as an affirmative defense so long as it derived from the non-abusive use of prescription medication). Here, the evidence initiated a threshold determination by the jury as to whether or not Appellant was intoxicated at the time of the crimes.

The trial court pointed out that the evidence showed that Appellant took prescription pain medications daily, was given additional medications at the hospital, and

testified without explanation that he felt high. But, also noted by the trial court, Appellant's emergency room doctor testified that he did not appear to be under the influence of drugs when he left. (R. p. 304, lines 7-19). Thus, it was appropriate for the trial court to craft an instruction that touched upon all possibilities stemming from that potential finding.

Of course the jury was free, as instructed, to find that intoxication was not a component to this case and therefore not a factor for them to consider at all. (R. p. 357, lines 11-19). The trial court chose to treat the instruction in a manner which assisted the finder of fact in reaching the right conclusion in the eyes of the law. While there existed no evidence of permanent insanity at trial, the correct instruction could regard all potential outcomes of that finding for purposes of enlightening the jury on that topic.

D. Any error in the intoxication instruction proves harmless given the totality of the instruction, the evidence at trial, and the jury's verdict.

“Whether or not the [erroneous jury charge] was harmless is a fact-intensive inquiry” as to whether the charge contributed to the guilty verdict rendered. *State v. Middleton*, 407 S.C. 312, 317, 755 S.E.2d 432, 435 (2014). If there exists “no indication that the jury based their verdict on the erroneous part of the charge,” then harmless error applies. *Id.*

Beyond a reasonable doubt, the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict in this case. As previously discussed in relation to the first issue on appeal, the State delivered a case succinctly probative of guilt. (Br. of Respondent, pp. 19-23). Ample evidence demonstrated that Appellant was not in fact operating in state of intoxication. According to his own trial testimony, Appellant embodied a tolerance to

pain medication. (R. p. 274, line 14 – p. 275, line 25). He did not undergo emergency treatment so as to render him incapacitated prior to the hit and run, or even so as to require an overnight observation. He admittedly took no additional medication between his second dose of Dilaudid and the murder. (R. p. 276, lines 24-25). Testimony also tended to show that Appellant was not under the pervasive influence of any prescription medication at the time of the murder: his treating physician cleared him for discharge and testified that Appellant's motor skills appeared normal even prior to that time. (R. p. 175, lines 1-16). Additionally, physical evidence indicated that Appellant undertook an overtly intentional act in veering off of the road towards the victim at such a sharp angle and with direct speed. (R. p. 127, lines 1-7). Appellant had to travel off-road a great distance to make contact with the victim, and maintained his speed before and after impact. (R. p. 123, lines 16-23; R. p. 126, lines 21-23; R. p. 131, lines 8-9; R. pp. 384 – 385).

Considering the above, the instruction as a whole acted to enlighten the jury as to the consequences of intoxication should they choose to find Appellant was under any influence at the time of the crimes. However, given the options between accident, involuntary manslaughter, murder, permanent insanity by voluntary intoxication, or involuntary intoxication by force or trickery, the evidence clearly points towards murder. Therefore, even if the trial court erroneously charged voluntary intoxication, this Court should find that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that this Court should affirm the Appellant's convictions for murder and hit and run with death.